
 

           

 
Situated on Wadawurrung land 
 

ADDRESS: 

18 Price Street Torquay 
 

EMAIL: 

tdhsociety@bigpond.com 
 

FACEBOOK: 

Torquay Historical Society 
 

WEBSITE: 

https://torquayhistoricalsoc

iety.com.au/ 
 

CONTACT: 

President: Frank Vagg 

0400 877 035 

Secretary: Carollyn Williams 

0400 911 664 
 

OPEN: 
Thursdays 1pm to 4pm 

OR by appointment 

 

MEETINGS: 
• Committee:  

First Thursday of month 

at 1pm  

• Archive group: Thursday 

at 1pm 

• AGM is in August 

 

 

 

NEWS 

The Society has purchased a new computer to increase the 

capacity of digitally storing the collection and to keep up with 

technology updates.  A very big thank you to our members 

for the supporting the cost when we were unsuccessful in 

obtaining a community grant.  Thank you to BAY IT Torquay 

for their expert advice and great service.  Our collection on 

the Vic Collections website is being revised and refreshed. 

 

****************************** 
WHAT DIFFERENCE 28 YEARS MAKES 

 
Geelong Advertiser July 23, 1997 

Note that in 1997 the population was 5000 that grew to 
30,000 over in summer.  In 2021 the population was 18,534.  
This comprised 48.8% males, 51.2% females with a median 
age of 39.  This was consistent with the median age of 
Victorians and Australians.  The largest adult group by age 
were 35-39 years (1,532) and the largest group of children 
were 5-9 years (1,453).  The Australian Bureau of Statistics 
estimated the Torquay population in 2025 would be between 
27,000 and 48,000.  And what about the summer influx! 
 
Source: ABS https://www.abs.gov.au/census/find-census-data/quickstats/2021/SAL22551 
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  TORQUAY LIFESAVING CLUB  
Torquay’s First Lifesavers 

In February 1899 the Torquay Improvement Association (TIA) applied to the Royal 

Humane Society for a lifebuoy for the safety of the locals and visitors who came 

to use the foreshore.  The lifebuoy was placed at Molyneux’s Hot Water Depot.  

No information is available if it was ever used in a rescue and early bathers did 

not venture more than knee deep into the water. 
 

Swimming however began to increase in popularity into the 1900s.  In the 1920s 

Torquay residents were about 300, but during the summer visitors predominantly 

from Geelong and Ballarat increased the population considerably.  The Front 

Beach was where many would come.  Two Bays guest house owned by the Rice 

family placed a box line on the beach during the day to be used in a rescue.  

However, line tangles, vandalism and improper use were problems that had the 

potential to affect the safe use of the line. 
 

A meeting was held with a representative of the Royal Life Saving Society (RLSS) 

and an affiliation was formed with the RLSS in 1921.  The Torquay Lifesaving Club 

was then formed in 1922.  The Rice family were influential in the formation of the 

club and members of the Duffield and Austin families played a prominent part.  A 

large bathing box was obtained and placed in front of Two Bays guest house as 

the clubhouse.  The colours of the club were dark blue with a white band around 

the middle.  A reel and line were obtained from Elwood Lifesaving Club, and an 

instructor and examiner came and trained a squad in January 1922.  The club 

subsequently gave demonstrations and helped form clubs at Lorne and Anglesea. 
 

Beach patrols were never rostered; it was whoever turned up took on the duty of 

lifeguard.  In January 1924 A. Rice performed the first rescue and in January 1925 

when a boy named Jewell got into difficulties E. Duffield successfully resuscitated 

the boy.  Members of bayside lifesaving clubs would hire picnic vans and spend a 

day or weekend at Torquay and hold competitions often to large crowds of 

cheering spectators of locals and visitors.  From the 1930s the club members 

adopted the Herald Learn to Swim program and instructed interested juniors and 

schools along the coast.  At its peak during the 1930s the club had 18 male 

members and 10 female members.  At the conclusion of 1932/33 season the 

membership dropped, and the club ceased affiliation with the RLSS and went into 

recession. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reference: Pollard, K. 
(1996). History of Torquay 
Surf Life Saving Club. 1945-

1995. TSLSC: Torquay. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TIA life buoy 
(Taylor family collection) 

 



 

 

1923 
Demonstration of 

reel and line 
rescue  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1925  

L-R: Bill Austin, Jim 
Rice, Andy 

Duffield, Phil Rice, 
Ivan Duffield, Jack 

Austin 
 

Club house behind 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Members in front 

of the bathing box 

club house 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1930s  

membership 

 included  

10 women 
 

1930s 

Fundraising event 
 

(Source photos  

TDHS Collection) 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

GUEST HOUSES 
Guest houses were a common part of the Torquay townscape after the 
1880s, though none survive today.  One of the earliest was James 
Follett’s Ocean View, built in c.1882 on the corner of Cowrie Rd and 
the highway for the use of weekend fisherman who came to the 
emerging township.  Others included St. Heliers and Two Bays.   Other 
names that appear on maps or in newspapers are Melba, Vieta, Coffee 
Palace and Pioneer House.   

 
Advert for accommodation that appeared in the Torquay Improvement Association (TIA) program of 

activities for Christmas and New Year 1935/36. 

TWO BAYS 
Effie Rice (1882-1963) purchased Two Bays in 1919 from John Pettitt when it 

was only a cottage.  It was extended to include a second front and named 

Two Bays.  There were more extensions over the years as well as bungalows 

that could accommodate up to 45 people.  When times were busy tents were 

used to accommodate staff and visitors.  Effie ran Two Bays for 29 years 

selling in 1948 to Fred Vairy.  Milton and Florence Rowe became the 

managers and later purchased the business.  The next owners were the 

Williams from c 1957 and then John and Wilma Pettigrove until in 1985 Two 

Bays was sold and demolished for the development of an apartment 

complex. 

VIETA HOUSE 
Vieta House was in Anderson St was run by the Gundry family.  A 1935/36 

advert states Mrs L Gundry as owner of Vieta and a city directory lists Mrs 

Lena Gundry as owner of Vieta.  It was destroyed in the 1940s fires 

ST HELIERS 
St Heliers was originally the holiday house of William Bell grocer in Geelong in 

the 1840s and proprietor of the Geelong Times.  He served on the Geelong 

city council with two terms as mayor.  He pursued pastoral activities with 

land at Bellbrae, western district and the Riverina.  He was an active member 

of the TIA and initiated the construction of the hall.  He died in 1894.  Eliza 

Wolff took on St Heliers as a guest house.  In 1920 Eliza was still advertising 

St Heliers.  By 1922 Martin and Larsen were managing St Heliers, then D & M 

Sayer.  Mrs and Mr T Bray owned the premises in the 1930s followed by Mrs 

Strain in 1945. 

MELBA/PIONEER HOUSE 
Melba House was beside St Heliers built back in the paddock with tennis 

courts in front and first run by Eliza Wolff, Effie Rice’s mother.  It was later 

renamed Pioneer House by Effie Rice when she purchased the property.  This 

guesthouse was burnt down in the 1940 fires. 

 

RESOURCES AT 

WEBSITE 

• Library catalogue 
• Membership forms 
• Research request 

forms 
• Walking trail 

brochure 
• Back issues of the 

newsletter 
• History of Torquay HS 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Two Bays c. 1938 

(Postcard) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
St Heliers  

(Advert) 

 

 
Melba House  

(M. Merritt Collection) 

 

 

 


